
 REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
 SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 

 
Minutes of the Regular Town Commission Meeting of the Town of Ocean Ridge held on Monday, 

September 12, 2016, at 6:00 PM in the Town Hall Commission Chambers. 
 
CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Pugh at 5:01 p.m. 
 
Town Clerk Stevens led the roll call, which was answered by the following: 
   

  Commissioner Aaskov   Commissioner Bonfiglio 
  Commissioner Lucibella  Mayor Pugh 
 
Commissioner Coz gave advance notice that he will be approximately 15 minutes late. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Mayor Pugh led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
BUDGET PUBLIC HEARING 
1. a. Presentation of the Tentative Budget & Proposed Millage Rate for FY 2016/17 

Town Manager Titcomb presented the Tentative Budget & Proposed Millage Rate for 
FY2016/17.  
Town Manager Titcomb noted there has been a significant change in the budget, as last 
week the Town of Briny Breezes chose a different provider for police services, and this 
represents a decrease in revenue of $221,168.  He projects that amount we would fund for 
the purpose of this discussion out of the unexpended funds from this fiscal year, and noted 
he would give specific examples of adjustment impacts.  For example, on the statement of 
revenues on page 3, the $109,747 inter-fund transfer number is a balancing number 
between adjustments that were made between Version 3.0 and 4.0.  That number could be 
consumed by the Briny Breezes contract change, as well as the balance of that which would 
be approximately $120,000 which we would fund out of the unexpended balance transfers 
at the end of the year.  In other words, we would self-finance the hit in revenues. 
 
Town Manager Titcomb also noted that due to Commission request, he added detail to the 
budget document where there are changes in the budget, and he explained some of the 
detail for the Commission and the public.  He mentioned that he recently received a request 
to fund additional body armor for the Police Department out of the current fiscal year 
budget, so that figure is not included in this proposed budget.  He noted that under line item 
504.620 in the Public Works budget, we need to delete the bucket truck description, as 
there are no plans for a bucket truck in this budget.  This description must have been carried 
over from a previous budget.  He also noted that the Contingency line item has been 
updated to $50,000 from $37,000.  In reference to the draft Capital Investment Plan 
worksheet, he reminded the Commission that the items listed under the first year for Law 
Enforcement are not funded at this time.  Also, we changed the paving expense to $200,000 
and we are able to fund the first year of paving and necessary equipment out of the current 
capital fund, but depending on what gets transferred in after the adjustments for the Briny 
Breezes police services contract, we should see additional funds to utilize there as 
necessary.  He stated there are items on the draft Capital Investment worksheet that he 
understands are not currently being considered such as the media and audio upgrades and 
other equipment that is listed based on the variables that were discussed.  He also noted 
that the human resources chart has been updated, as the Commission asked for salary data 
for FY15.    
 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 2 - 

Commissioner Bonfiglio asked where the loss from the Briny Breezes police services 
contract is inserted, and Town Manager Titcomb responded that $221,168 will be removed 
from line 342.100 on the Statement of Revenues, and stated we will need to reduce items 
by that amount on the expense side of the Statement of Revenues and Expenditures, and 
noted that part of that would come out of the $109,747 which is listed as the Transfer to 
Capital Projects, and the balance could be taken out of unexpended reserves that reside in 
that fund now.  There is currently an unexpended balance of $286,650 in the general fund, 
and $301,550 currently unexpended in the Capital Fund.  Those would be areas to look at 
if we need to self-fund the loss of revenue from the Briny Breezes contract. 
 
Mayor Pugh asked about the percentages column change throughout the document, and 
Town Manager Titcomb stated he switched back to the old formula that was used in 
previous budgets because the new formula was too confusing. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella noted that the correct number should be $4,616,167 on the 
Millage Rate Comparison chart under 97% budgeted for the 5.3500 millage rate.  All of 
the numbers on that chart are incorrect because they are based upon the wrong figures from 
the previous section.  He noted that we used the wrong line item from the Certification of 
Taxable Value form to populate Resolution No. 2016-07.  He noted that we used line 6 and 
we are supposed to use line 4.  The correct number is $889,520,621.  Town Attorney 
Torcivia verified that the Commission is able to make amendments to the resolution during 
the meeting. 
 
Commissioner Coz arrived at 5:24 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella noted that $80,000 for the purchase of police radios should be in 
the capital fund, not the police department expense.  He would like to separate the 
Contingency from the Capital Fund and show what the things in the capital fund are 
earmarked for, and Town Manager Titcomb confirmed that he will do that. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella stated that the 10 month running balances are incorrect, and stated 
he suspects that the 10 month figures are actually nine month figures on some.  Town 
Manager Titcomb stated he will make sure all of the figures are the 10 month figures.   
 
Commissioner Lucibella stated that the 5% merit raises for each employee are budgeted 
for the full year, and that the figures should be changed to budget 5% per employee on each 
employee’s anniversary date.  The figures for retirement, vacation, FICA, etc. will need to 
be adjusted accordingly. 
 
There was a discussion regarding Accounting & Auditing Services, and Town Manager 
Titcomb noted that we can remove the CPA technical assistance line, but we should leave 
the option for a single stream audit in the budget in case we have a major storm and receive 
FEMA funds.  He also noted that we need to go out for bid for auditing services this year, 
and we do not know how much that will cost. 
 
Mayor Pugh asked why the Subscriptions, Memberships & Education budget almost 
doubled in the Town Clerk’s budget, and Town Manager Titcomb explained that those line 
items in all department budgets have increased because his management philosophy is to 
make sure that all employees have the opportunity to attend professional development 
seminars, training, certifications, and schooling.  He explained that each Association deals 
with a similar agenda and training, but their focuses are local, state and national.  



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 3 - 

Commissioner Lucibella stated that the Commission is in favor of employees educating 
themselves, however each line item equals days off to attend training.  Town Manager 
Titcomb stated it is hard to put a price on the networking and association of people that 
you become familiar with in these groups that bring resources to the Town.   
 
Commissioner Lucibella asked about the Improvements Not Buildings line item (506.300) 
in the amount of $1,000 in the General Government Services Expense budget, and Town 
Manager Titcomb explained that this amount is for shredding services for Town records 
and residential services.  Commissioner Lucibella asked that the $1,000 in the 506.300 
account be moved to the 503.400 account. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella asked why the Repairs and Maintenance budget increased by 
40%, and wants more explanation on that line item.  Mayor Pugh agreed that more detailed 
narrative is needed.  
 
Commissioner Lucibella noted that the $1,000 lump sum increase (line item 501.110) in 
the Law Enforcement budget needs to be deleted. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella noted that the long term disability, workers’ comp, 
unemployment compensation, and retirement lines are the same as last year, and they 
should not be.  He stated that the rates are increasing this year, and noted that we cannot 
use last year’s budget numbers because there are different rates for current employees.  He 
would like the new rates listed in the narrative. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella would like a narrative for the Machinery and Equipment line in 
the Law Enforcement budget (506.400), and noted that the $80,000 for the radios belongs 
in the Capital Projects Fund, which will reduce this line item. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella would like a narrative for the Inspections Services budget, 
because we have revenues of $265,000 and expenses of $157,500.  Town Manager Titcomb 
explained that the revenue of $265,000 is split between departments because the Town 
Engineer also performs inspection services, and Commissioner Lucibella stated he would 
like to include this in the narrative so it will not look as if we are in a for-profit business.  
 
Commissioner Lucibella would like a narrative on the single unit price on trash removal 
services with Republic Services, as we charge a different price for single family vs. multi-
family units.  He would like to see the rates last year vs. the rates this year. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella would like the budget for the Town Engineer changed to $85,000 
due to the current expenses for that line item. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella and Mayor Pugh would like a narrative for the Machinery and 
Equipment line item in the Public Works budget. 

 
b. Announce the Town of Ocean Ridge Computed Millage Rate is Higher Than the Rolled 

Back Rate by 7.23%.  The millage to be levied is 5.3500. 
Mayor Pugh announced that the Town of Ocean Ridge computed millage rate is higher 
than the rolled back rate by 7.23%.  He announced the millage to be levied is 5.3500. 

 
c. Comment from Commissioners & Public 
 There were no comments made at this time. 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 4 - 

 
d. Resolution No. 2016-07:  Adoption of Tentative Millage Rate for Fiscal Year 2016/2017 

Commissioner Bonfiglio moved to adopt Resolution No. 2016-07 as amended, adding the 
figure of $889,520,621 in the third whereas clause (which represents the gross taxable 
value for operating purposes not exempt from taxation within Palm Beach County as 
certified by the County Property Appraiser to the Town of Ocean Ridge); seconded by 
Commissioner Lucibella.  Motion carried 5-0.  Resolution No. 2016-07 was adopted at 
6:21 p.m. 

 
e. Resolution No. 2016-08:  Adoption of Tentative Budget for Fiscal Year 2016/2017 

 
Commissioner Lucibella asked if we should be leaving non-revenue of $260,000 which is 
a fund transfer in the revenue grand total.  He asked that the Town Manager check on this 
before the final hearing, and make sure we have the correct number for the final resolution. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio moved to adopt Resolution No. 2016-08 as amended, changing 
the Appropriations and Revenue Estimate for the Budget for FY2016/17 figure to 
$6,619,030; seconded by Commissioner Aaskov.  Motion carried 5-0.  Resolution No. 
2016-08 was adopted at 6:25 p.m. 

 
f. Announce the second/final hearing on the FY2016/17 Budget will be held at 5:01 p.m. on 

Wednesday, September 21, 2016. 
Mayor Pugh announced that the second/final hearing on the FY2016/17 Budget will be 
held at 5:01 p.m. on Wednesday, September 21, 2016. 

 
 
ADDITIONS, DELETIONS, MODIFICATIONS, AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Mayor Pugh requested that Action Item #9 be deleted, as the Town of Briny Breezes contracted with the 
City of Boynton Beach for Police Services. 
 
APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 
2.  Minutes of Regular Town Commission Meeting of August 1, 2016 
3. Minutes of Special Town Commission Meeting of August 23, 2016 
4. Floodplain Annual Progress Report (NFIP/CRS Recertification) 

  
Commissioner Bonfiglio moved to approve the agenda and consent agenda as amended; seconded by 
Commissioner Lucibella.  Motion Carried 5-0.  
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
There were no announcements. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
  
Terry Brown, Harbour Drive South, mentioned that some of the items on the Floodplain Annual Progress 
Report are around 9-10 years old.  In the example of Harbour Drive South, they did add four catch basins 
and listed it as a tidal issue.  He stated that the Town Engineer needs to take more action regarding what to 
do with these issues because the issues are not going away.  He also spoke to the Commission regarding 
floor area ratio (FAR), and noted that when we increase it, it transforms the look and feel of the Town. 
 
Mark Marsh, 14 Hudson Ave, Planning & Zoning Board Member, spoke to the Commission regarding his 
concerns on the floor area ratio, aesthetics and code compliance issues.  He would like the Commission to 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 5 - 

think about utilizing the Planning & Zoning Board as a quasi-review board for building permit applications 
because we will see a drastic change in the Town if we do not do so.  He noted that Ocean Ridge is the only 
coastal town that does not have an Architectural Review Board.  The Town will face aesthetic and technical 
issues in the future, and he does not believe the Town is ready to take on those challenges.  He would like 
to protect the character of the Town. 
 
Tom Ambrose, 10 Hudson Ave, spoke to the Commission regarding frequent power outages at his 
residence.  He is concerned about the height of the trees under the power lines.  The wind sometimes blows 
down the palm fronds which short circuit the power lines, and blows the fuse on A1A.  He noted that FPL 
stated they would be happy to trim the trees if notified of a specific problem, but Mr. Ambrose would like 
the Town to send a notice out for property owners to trim their trees.  Commissioner Lucibella asked if we 
can enforce people contacting FPL.  Chief Hutchins stated the Police Department surveys properties on a 
regular basis to see if there are trees near the wires that will jeopardize power service.  If the trees are within 
10 feet of the power lines, we contact FPL.  We have been told by FPL that the trees need to be trimmed 
by a certified tree trimmer for safety.  He encourages anyone to let us know, and we will attempt to use our 
ordinance to take care of the problems or get FPL to respond.  Mr. Ambrose asked if the Town could look 
into having FPL place the 5 houses in his area that are having power outage problems on a different circuit.  
The Town Manager stated he will follow-up with that.    
 
Don McGruder, 9 Ridge Blvd, showed the Commission his recent pictures taken at the retention pond, and 
stated we still have standing water.  He mentioned if we are hit with a storm, we will be in trouble.  He also 
mentioned that standing water is a primary breeding ground for Zika mosquitoes, and we need to do 
something soon. 
 
Lynn Allison, 6260 N. Ocean Blvd, spoke on behalf of the Garden Club, and mentioned that some of the 
Garden Club members have been speaking with the Town Manager regarding activities for their upcoming 
50th anniversary.  They would like to decorate the entrance monuments, decorate Town Hall with flower 
arrangements, and they will have speakers who will do presentations for the public.  They would like to 
have the opening reception on February 13th, and close on Friday night with a silent auction to sell the 
flower arrangements.  They are currently receiving pricing and installation information, and will come back 
to the Commission at a later date.  They have money in their treasury for the event, and are hoping to receive 
support from the Town as well. 
 
Betty Bingham, 1 Ocean Ave, noted that she is in charge of getting the Christmas tree this year and would 
like to have it in place the day after Thanksgiving.  She would like it decorated by the first of December 
and have the lighting ceremony the first Friday in December.  Mayor Pugh stated he would like the lights 
in Town done earlier this year as well so they are operational by the date of the lighting ceremony.  Town 
Manager Titcomb confirmed that we have been in contact with the holiday lighting contractor and will have 
that taken care of. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  
5. An application submitted by POM Properties, 4783 N. Congress Ave, Boynton Beach, FL 33426, 
representing the owner, Elliot Zank, 5550 Coastal Dr., Boca Raton, FL 33487, requesting a Land 
Development Permit from the provisions of the Land Development Code, Article 2; COASTAL 
CONSTRUCTION, Section 67-17; Coastal Construction and Excavation Setback Line; Sub-Paragraph (a); 
Setback Line Established; and Sub-Paragraph (h) Existing Structures to permit the construction of a new 
two-story single family residence with a two car garage with the furthest extension of the structure at 67’ 3 
1/2” (+/-) east of the Coastal Construction Control Line (CCCL), and the pool and pool deck will extend a 
maximum of 16’ 1 3/4” (+/-) east of the CCCL.  The house finished floor slab elevation will be 15.9’ 
NAVD.  Property located at 5006 Old Ocean Blvd, or legally described as Palm Beach Shore Acres BLKS 
A, B & Z LT 17 LYG WLY OF & ADJ to Ocean Blvd R/W (Less W 748 FT) BLK A. 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 6 - 

 
Town Clerk Stevens read the public hearing notice for the public. 
Mayor Pugh asked for confirmation from the Town Attorney that by approving this the Commission is not 
approving of the construction of that particular house, just the construction of a structure east of the CCCL, 
and Town Attorney Torcivia responded that is correct, but we are also getting an idea of what they would 
like to construct, and staff has some concerns regarding the height, etc.  He stated that the Commission 
needs to make it clear in any motion that is passed that it is specifically subject to complying with all of the 
zoning and building codes of the Town.  
 
Manny Palacios, Zoning Official for the Town, mentioned that the detailed measurements to certify that 
the calculations are accurate will be done at the permitting process.  Commissioner Coz asked if the 
homeowner knows about the pending problems, and Mr. Palacios confirmed that he does, as staff has been 
meeting with the Architect.  Mr. Palacios noted that the zoning requirements at this stage in the process 
seem to meet town code regarding setbacks and height requirements for construction east of the CCCL.  
The Architect is fully aware that everything will be scrutinized at the permitting process.  
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio asked how an application gets to the Town Commission level when it doesn’t 
meet the 75% second floor, and noted that they should be presenting a plan that is fully compliant with our 
zoning before the Commission can approve it, and Mr. Palacios responded that the site data is certifying 
that there is a 75% compliance.  He stated there is a small discrepancy between the two calculations, but in 
his opinion, we can proceed forward with allowing him to proceed with his project, and send a letter to 
DEP so he can begin the process.  The 75% issue is something that can be addressed at the permitting 
process.  Mr. Palacios stated that the number is currently at 75.6%, and there is a margin of error, so that 
can be remedied.   
 
Commissioner Lucibella suggested bringing it back next month after Mr. Palacios is comfortable in stating 
that the proposal is under 75% so there is never any question, and Mr. Palacios responded that the detailed 
calculations on his part have not been done yet because he doesn’t normally do that until the permitting 
process.  At this point, he just does a rough estimate.   
 
Mark Marsh, 14 Hudson Ave, Planning Board Member, does not think the Commission can state in a letter 
at this point that the application will meet the Zoning requirements of the Town.  Town Attorney Torcivia 
suggested that the letter to DEP states the approval is subject to the applicant meeting all of the Town’s 
building and zoning codes. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio asked if we could pass a resolution that defers this until we are 100% convinced 
that this plan meets all of our zoning requirements including the 75% floor area ratio for the second floor. 
 
Mayor Pugh stated the problem is that the plan shows the structure is three stories high, but he does not 
want to get into how the house is built at this moment.  He stated the finished floor elevation when you look 
at it from Tropical, you’re looking at the garage and then stories going up, so we’re looking at the height 
which is going to be out of nature with the rest of the neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella asked Mr. Palacios what more does he need before he can say the plan meets the 
code, and Mr. Palacios responded that he would need more detailed drawings with measurements of the 
first and second floor from the applicant. 
 
There was a discussion about the Planning & Zoning Board doing preliminary plans reviews (not 
necessarily in relation to this application). 
 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 7 - 

Commissioner Bonfiglio suggested voting to refer this plan to the Planning & Zoning Board for a 
recommendation, and asked the Town Attorney if that could be done.  Town Attorney Torcivia responded 
that he’s not sure at this moment if the Planning & Zoning Board has that authority or not.  He suggested a 
motion to defer this and a second motion to direct us to look into this, and if the Planning & Zoning Board 
has the authority, that’s where the application should go. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella moved to defer approval until the zoning official or designee is comfortable that 
it meets all of the zoning and building requirements of the town; second by Commissioner Coz. 
 
Town Manager Titcomb noted that this is an advertised public hearing, and asked Town Attorney Torcivia 
if this is deferred, procedurally can we continue the public hearing so it’s under the same advertising 
requirements, or would it have to be re-advertised, and Town Attorney Torcivia responded that unless it is 
deferred to a date certain, we would need to re-advertise.  It was the consensus of the Commission to re-
advertise. 
 
Terry Brown, Harbour Drive South, commented that the finished floor elevation of the slab will be 16’ 
using Old Ocean Blvd as the marker, which is pretty high.  If they could get that down lower, it would be 
helpful for the neighborhood.  He mentioned that the neighboring property will receive the water runoff 
because there is no wall there.   
 
Demetrios Christopoulos, the Architect for the project, spoke to the Commission and stated there is some 
mention of coastal construction in the ordinances, but you don’t really have ordinances written for coastal 
construction.  He stated it’s a hodge-podge trying to appease DEP, and Ocean Ridge’s code is really 
designed for inland homes.  He stated Mr. Palacios informed him that DEP’s minimum is our maximum, 
and he wanted the Commission to understand that the 15.9’ is actually dictated by DEP, it’s not their 
proposal.  They specifically say that the lowest hanging structural member that is parallel to the shoreline 
must be 13.9 NAVD.  They proposed a reasonable 24” high beam for structural and made the slab flush 
with the top of that.  As the slab grows in thickness, it actually grows downward.  They have done 
everything they can to keep it as low as possible to meet DEP requirements.  He asked the Commission to 
please consider that his design is influenced by cutting edge architecture.  It meets the ordinances the best 
that he can, and does not exceed FAR.  He also mentioned that the 75.6% issue may be based in CAD where 
he may have moved a line. If he moves a wall of a certain length 2 inches, that will easily give the percentage 
they need, and it should not be an issue for tonight’s approval. 
 
Mayor Pugh stated that the front door facing Tropical is a problem.  He stated if the front door is facing 
Tropical, and you have to walk up the steps, that means you’re entering the home from the elevation on 
Tropical, not the elevation on Old Ocean.  He stated we have other homes that have elevation from Old 
Ocean, and the front door is on Old Ocean which is the front of the house.  You’re entering from Tropical, 
so Tropical is now the side of the house, so you’re coning in the front door from the side of the house.  
You’re entering the house from the elevation on Tropical, not the elevation of Old Ocean.  He stated the 
Commission is not rejecting this because the house is a modern design, the Commission is not liking the 
design because the applicant is saying they have to build from the NGVD from Old Ocean, however the 
front door is not on Old Ocean.  He stated the applicant can make it work by building a site wall around the 
property.  The scale of the home from Tropical is literally huge compared to what the Town is used to.  We 
have a 36’ total height, and if garage space from Tropical is added, it now becomes 46’.  If you’re building 
from Old Ocean, and you’re forced to do so by DEP, you would make your front door on Old Ocean just 
like every other house on that side of the street did.  The houses currently there have retaining walls because 
the water needs to be retained on the property.  You can’t shed water from your own property onto 
someone’s else’s property and flood them out, so you will need retaining walls.  He stated we can’t approve 
something that we know will be out of what the Town of Ocean Ridge has been working toward for a long 
time with our floor area ratio, building heights, building structures, keeping water on your own property so 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 8 - 

you’re not flooding out your neighbors, and all of the other things we have been working on for the past 15 
or so years that are important to the Town residents.  He asked the applicant to review this again with Mr. 
Palacios and the Town Manager and come back to the Commission at a later date with something that is 
more in scope. 
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella moved to instruct the Town Attorney to research and report back whether the 
Commission can refer at its discretion certain building plans to the Planning & Zoning Board for review 
and recommendation, and if the Commission does not have that authority, to provide the Commission with 
a methodology to create the authority; seconded by Commissioner Coz.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
REGULAR AGENDA 
 
REPORTS 
6. Town Manager 
Town Manager Titcomb advised that his written report is included in the meeting package and includes 
topics such as detention area maintenance projects, and Commissioner Bonfiglio asked about the proposals 
to fix and clean up the detention area.  Town Manager Titcomb responded that we are working with the 
same company that provides services for us there now to re-visit the proposal.  They are currently looking 
at the engineering plans on the as-builts for the detention area so we can prescribe the specific steps to 
improve the infrastructure that is in the ground down there.  Mayor Pugh asked when the Town Manager 
will bring more information back to the Commission, and Town Manager Titcomb responded that he will 
bring information back next month for approval because it may cost more than $10,000.  Commissioner 
Bonfiglio voiced his concern about waiting longer to take care of this, and stated we need to take care of 
the standing water issue due to Zika concerns.  He asked the Town Attorney if we could treat the detention 
area as an emergency to bypass the time prohibitions, and Town Attorney Torcivia responded that the 
Commission could authorize the Town Manager to enter into a contract up to a certain dollar amount 
because of the emergency and health and safety issues.  Mayor Pugh asked if we have a ballpark figure, 
and Town Manager Titcomb responded that we received proposals around a year ago and the price was 
estimated at $15,000 at that time. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella moved to authorize the Town Manager to spend up to $20,000 on an emergency 
basis to do what is necessary to have the standing water in the detention area managed until we can have it 
managed on a permanent basis, after receiving at least three quotes; seconded by Commissioner Coz.  
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
Town Manager Titcomb reported that the PBA contract negotiations were held today and both sides 
tentatively adopted an agreement.  Both sides will need to ratify the agreement in the near future.  All of 
the parameters have been met, and in addition, the PBA has offered to consider extending the contract for 
an additional year to provide the opportunity to evaluate the merit evaluation process.   
 
7.  Town Attorney  
Town Attorney Torcivia noted that he and his staff are working on more ordinance amendments over the 
next month or two.  There were no questions from the Commission. 
 
 
 
8.   Police Chief  



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 9 - 

Chief Hutchins advised that the Police Department report is included in the meeting package and includes 
monthly police department statistics as well as several commendations.  There were no questions from the 
Commission, and the Commission congratulated the individuals who received commendations. 
 
ACTION ITEMS 
9. Ratification of the Briny Breezes Police Services Contract By: Jamie Titcomb, Town Manager 
Item #9 removed from the agenda. 
 
10. Ratification of the Boynton Beach Fire/Rescue Services Contract By: Jamie Titcomb, Town 

Manager 
Town Manager Titcomb stated that the Boynton Beach Commission ratified the contract last week.   
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio authorized the Town Manager to execute the final inter-local agreement for 
Fire/Rescue Services as set forth in the September 12, 2016 agenda item #10, provided that the final contract 
matches the marked-up version presented to the Commission; seconded by Commissioner Aaskov.  Motion 
carried 5-0. 
 
11. Authorization of an Engineering Study on Traffic Calming Installations By:  Commissioner 

Coz 
Commissioner Coz noted that he has worked with the Town Engineer and Town Manager to get concepts 
on traffic calming devices in the four corners/entrances of the Town.  We have now reached the point in 
the project to finish the architecture of the intersection to study the drainage effects, etc.  The Commission 
will need to authorize the expenditure of $14,900 for engineering construction plans.  This would be one 
part of the overall traffic calming project.  The Engineer will need to come back to the Commission with 
specific costs on the four traffic calming areas. 
 
Town Manager Titcomb noted that the larger piece of this project that goes to the Engineering firm not only 
prepares the engineering construction plans, but they also deal with the permitting and bid documents so 
that this can be bid out for actual construction.  The second piece is the surveying of each installation for 
grade, drainage issues, appropriate construction drawings, etc. 
 
Mayor Pugh asked if the cost would still be $15,000 even if we only decide to do one intersection, and 
Commissioner Coz responded that if they Engineer one of the intersections and run into some unexpected 
problems, we would expect them to flag that and bring it to our attention before they spend additional funds.  
Town Manager Titcomb responded that the quotes show different pricing for each intersection, but this 
supposes that you would spend the money once and save by consolidating FDOT permit costs, etc.  The 
Engineer did mention that they would reduce their costs if there was less physical work to do for the number 
of intersections that you would like to study.   
 
Commissioner Coz moved to spend $14,900 on the engineering study on traffic calming installations, 
seconded by Commissioner Lucibella. 
 
Public comment:  Zoanne Hennigan, 91 Island Drive South, asked if there has been a feasibility study to 
see if there is a traffic issue that needs calming, and Commissioner Coz responded that some of her 
neighbors have talked to him and are concerned about speeding traffic and Pokemon players intruding the 
neighborhood.  He also stated they are trying to address each entrance into the Town, which will give more 
identity of a tight knit community, and hopefully give people a sense of respecting others property. 
 
Terry Brown, Harbour Drive South, stated it appears that certain neighborhoods have been chosen because 
certain people want it.  He stated he is not aware of a speeding problem on Island Drive or Beachway, and 
he doesn’t believe the Chief has done a traffic study to indicate how many tickets have been issued on that 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 10 - 

roadway.  He stated that there is a speeding problem on Harbour Drive South.  The speed limit is 10 mph 
and recognizes that the officers cannot enforce speed under 20 mph.  He stated we could combine traffic 
calming devices along with the drain that needs to be fixed there.  He stated he would like a distinctive look 
in his neighborhood, but the rich neighborhoods were picked.  Mayor Pugh asked if a speed sign could be 
installed on Harbour Drive South, and Chief Hutchins responded that he would see if there is a good location 
for the sign.  Mayor Pugh stated the sign would take a survey on how fast people are going. 
 
Lucy Brown, Harbour Drive South, asked if the purpose of the traffic calming devices is the appearance 
enhancement, town identity, or slowing down speeders, and asked if there is a need for them, and 
Commissioner Coz responded that the purpose is for all three reasons.  She believes we shouldn’t spend all 
this money just because a few people on the street have said that people are going fast down their street. 
 
Robert Sloat, 6550 North Ocean Blvd, does not agree with the traffic calming installations.  He stated he 
believes the money can be spent better elsewhere. 
 
Commissioner Coz noted that the Midlane area was added to the plan because residents have been 
complaining about speeding, and the devices should stop the speeding so the pedestrians and children will 
be safe.  Commissioner Aaskov stated the location of the device on Midlane does not make sense to her.  
Commissioner Coz noted that we can’t do anything on A1A because it is a State road, so the Midlane 
location was chosen.  Commissioner Aaskov stated the Midlane location will not help the speeding problem 
on Ridge Blvd. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella asked if the speed signs record stats, and Chief Hutchins responded that the radar 
signs record the speed of vehicles passing them in only one direction.  He noted that if we wanted to do a 
traffic study, we would need to hire someone to do that for us.  Commissioner Lucibella stated he would 
like to know what the average speed of traffic is, and asked if the Chief can give us stats from the signs.  
Chief Hutchins responded that he provided stats from Beachway to Commissioner Coz, and it shows that 
vehicles travel over 20 mph on Beachway on occasion, and there isn’t an inordinate amount of speed on 
that road.  He stated the stats are over-written after a certain period of time, but he will go back and see how 
many he can pull.  Commissioner Aaskov asked how many signs we have, and Chief Hutchins responded 
that we have two signs. 
 
Motion withdrawn by Commissioner Coz.  This item will be brought back in October with a more limited 
plan and costing. 
 
12. Discussion Regarding Zika Virus By: Commissioner Bonfiglio 
Commissioner Bonfiglio mentioned that we need to address this before it becomes a serious health problem 
in our area.  He stated the State has only allocated $19M for Zika management and control for the entire 
State, and Palm Beach County is concentrating on areas in the Western community, with nothing in coastal 
communities.  He stated he is concerned because the Zika virus is significantly worse than a regular virus, 
and has devastating effects on pregnant women and the elderly.  He stated he would like the Town to place 
money in the budget for Zika spraying, but the down side is that we do not know the health risks to people 
for the various pesticides that are used to control the virus.  He did read that the CDC anticipates a vaccine 
will be ready in the next couple of years.  He stated if we do something now, we may be able to limit the 
impact on our residents, and we could scale back if they develop a successful serum for the virus. 
 
Town Manager Titcomb noted that we spend $63,000 for noseeum spraying in our current budget through 
our current vendor, Clarke Environmental.  He stated Mr. Santana from Clarke Environmental gave us an 
alternative service delivery plan for Zika spraying, with an option for truck fogging and larvacide to treat 
Zika mosquitos for essentially the same amount that we currently pay in our contract.  He mentioned that 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 11 - 

the current program is an opt-in process for residents regarding noseeum spraying, and the Zika spraying 
would be the same opt-in process.  
 
Bobby Santana and John Greene from Clarke Environmental spoke to the Commission and mentioned that 
Zika mosquitoes are containerized breeders, so you don’t find them breeding in the intercoastal or in 
swamps or swales, they are in areas that will have a direct impact on your home.  It is a challenging virus 
to suppress and control.  Mr. Santana noted that the detention area is not a breeding site for Zika mosquitos, 
as they are considered container breeders.  Although swamp areas are considered breeding grounds for 
mosquitos, Zika mosquitos should not be a concern in that area. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella asked why Colonial Ridge is being treated, and Town Manager Titcomb 
responded that Colonial Ridge opted in for the service.  All of the service areas on the map are opted in for 
service currently.  Mr. Santana responded that when he put together the proposal he was working under the 
same line item budget and put together the most appropriate cost effective program possible.  He stated that 
the product they will be applying is effective on noseeums and Zika mosquitos as well.  He pointed out that 
the red map is the current service area which is a barrier application and is a little different than the truck 
mounted spraying.  It is a house by house backpack treating of vegetation around the property, and the route 
was put together based on buy-in from the residents, and is based on preserve areas where there is the most 
noseeum activity.  Commissioner Lucibella asked if everyone on Tropical wanted to have their yards 
sprayed, would they spray them, and Mr. Santana confirmed that they would. 
 
Mayor Pugh asked what time of day the truck spraying would occur, and Mr. Santana responded that the  
timing is open for discussion, but is usually done at night.  He stated the treatment zone would take 
approximately an hour to complete, and 3:45 a.m. to 4:45 a.m. would be the best time to treat. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio asked about the active ingredient in the spray and the health risks, and Mr. Santana 
responded that it has a very low toxicity, as it is a very fine mist that goes into the air from the truck. 
 
Mayor Pugh asked about the backpack spraying, and Mr. Santana stated they would be doing the larvacide 
spraying once per month in the detention areas, and the other three times per month will be the backpack 
spraying which is for the vegetation around the homes.  He stated the product barrier lasts for 7-10 days, so 
the one extra treatment that they were able to eliminate left room in the budget to do the ULV treatments 
as well as the larvaciding for a more integrated program. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella asked what is the latest on genetically engineered mosquitos, and Mr. Santana 
stated it can work in a very small area, but the costs can be astronomical. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio asked about toxicity for the beneficials, and Mr. Santana responded that we 
mitigate some of those risks through the time of application.  
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio asked about the release form for adding the mosquito spraying, and Mr. Santana 
stated he will look at it in detail and let us know if we have the correct language.  
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio moved to authorize the spraying of mosquitos through Clarke Environmental 
Services as per the September 12, 2016 agenda item #12; seconded by Commissioner Lucibella. 
 
Terry Brown, Harbour Drive South, asked how we will deal with the issue of truck spraying while residents 
are our walking their dogs at night.  Mayor Pugh stated we will put a spraying schedule up on our website.  
Mr. Brown asked if we will stop spraying once Zika goes away, and Commissioner Bonfiglio responded 
that is our hope. 
 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 12 - 

Betty Bingham, 1 Ocean Ave, stated she is concerned about the bees due to the recent kill in South Carolina, 
and Commissioner Bonfiglio responded that the problem in South Carolina was due to widespread aerial 
spraying during the day when the pollinators are out.  We should not have that problem because our plan is 
to spray during the nighttime/early morning hours when the pollinators are asleep.  Mr. Santana added that 
Ms. Bingham’s concerns are definitely valid and he takes those things into consideration when we puts the 
program together.  He noted that the droplets will not remain on the flowers, as they are very small and 
there will not be any left on the flowers by the time the sun comes up and pollinators come out.   
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio asked how we are going to let residents know that they need to sign a new form 
to allow for noseeum and mosquito spraying, and Mayor Pugh responded he does not think we need to do 
so because they are only spraying for mosquitoes with the backpack in certain areas.  They are not going 
behind every single house with the backpacks. They are only spraying in the retention areas, and the truck 
spraying doesn’t require individual authorization.    
 
13. Discussion Regarding Iguana Trapping By: Commissioner Bonfiglio 
Commissioner Bonfiglio stated he has noticed iguanas hanging around Ocean Blvd, by the Inlet Park, in 
his back yard, and on Sabal Island.  He stated part of the problem is they have a nasty bite and strong tails, 
and are a threat to children and small pets.  He stated they would like to place traps in three or four different 
areas, and each trip costs $189 for four traps.  The price increases when you add more traps.  He stated we 
don’t know how much it will cost because we don’t know how many traps we will need, but the cost is per 
trip, and they check all of the traps during one trip.  Mayor Pugh stated we will need the homeowners to 
sign permission slips to place the traps on their property.   
 
Commissioner Lucibella stated we want to be good neighbors, but asked why the Town would pay to 
remove pests from someone’s property, and Commissioner Bonfiglio responded that the colonization is 
becoming a problem in many areas.  He noted that although it is not as dangerous as the Zika virus, it is 
something the Town may want to address.  Commissioner Lucibella stated he is not against it if there is an 
appetite for support.    
 
Zoanne Hennigan, 91 Island Dr. South, considers the vacant home beside her to be an iguana breeding site 
as there is a lot of vegetation there.  She stated they have seen big and small ones there and they are 
reproducing like rabbits.  She believes it is a health concern because their feces is bacterial ridden and it 
gets in the swimming pools.  She stated she doesn’t know if the traps are the most effective way to remove 
them, but she is in favor of a mechanism to eliminate them.  Commissioner Bonfiglio noted that we don’t 
have a natural predator for the large iguanas.   
 
Betty Bingham, 1 Ocean Ave, mentioned that iguana meat is becoming a delicacy.  She also mentioned that 
the last time we had a cold spell in January, that killed them all off. 
 
Terry Brown, Harbour Drive South, noted this is becoming a huge problem in the State, and we can 
eradicate them, but they will come back.  He stated trapping is an expense we don’t need. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella suggested that we have wildlife removal services come in and speak to us so we 
can ask questions. 
 
Mayor Pugh suggested that we speak with other coastal towns to see if they have any experience with this 
such as which trapper they used, how much it cost, and if it was successful. 
 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 13 - 

Commissioner Bonfiglio suggested that we postpone this item until we have more information on other 
communities with the same issues and how they have coped with eradication.  There was consensus from 
the Commission to do so. 
 
RESOLUTIONS 
14. Resolution No. 2016-09:  Resolution of the Town Commission of the Town of Ocean Ridge, 

Florida, Revising the Building Permit Fee Schedule  By: Jamie Titcomb, Town Manager 
Town Manager Titcomb explained that it has been six years since the building permit fees have increased.  
Town staff has looked at the fees and recommended an increase to cover the costs of the Town to process 
building permits. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio moved to adopt Resolution No. 2016-09; seconded by Commissioner Aaskov.  
Motion carried 5-0. 
 
FIRST READING OF ORDINANCES 
15. Ordinance No. 615:  An Ordinance of the Town of Ocean Ridge, Florida, Amending Its 

Code of Ordinances By Amending Chapter 1, “General Provisions”, Section 1-3, 
“Definitions” to Clarify the Definition of “Family”; Chapter 67, “Buildings and Building 
Regulations”, Article VII, “Building Standards”, by Creating Division 3, “Occupancy 
Limitations” to Clarify Such Limitations and to Provide for a Reasonable Accommodation 
Process for Persons With Disabilities and/or a Handicap; Providing for Codification, 
Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances, Severability, and an Effective Date. 

Town Attorney Torcivia read Ordinance No. 615 by title only and explained that this is the first reading 
of the Reasonable Accommodation Ordinance, and under the Federal Fair Housing Act every community 
should have one.  It deals with dwelling units and specifically defines that no more than five unrelated 
persons shall live in a dwelling unit in the Town. 
 
Commissioner Lucibella moved the adoption of the first reading of Ordinance No. 615; seconded by 
Commissioner Coz.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 
16. Ordinance No. 616:  An Ordinance of the Town of Ocean Ridge, Florida, Amending Its 

Code of Ordinances By Amending Chapter 67, “Buildings and Building Regulations”, 
Article III, “Technical Codes and Other Construction Standards”, Division 2, 
“Administration and Enforcement”, Section 67-55, “Construction Board of Adjustments 
and Appeals” To Provide That Certain Appeals May Be Made to the Board of Adjustment; 
Providing for Codification, Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances, Severability, and an Effective 
Date. 

Town Attorney Torcivia read Ordinance No. 616 by title only and explained that we found out recently 
that although our Code calls for a Construction Board of Appeals, we don’t have one, so we would like 
the Board of Adjustment to be the authority for construction appeals. 
 
Commissioner Bonfiglio moved the adoption of the first reading of Ordinance No. 616; seconded by 
Commissioner Coz. 
 
Terry Brown, Harbour Drive South, noted that the membership of the Construction Board of Appeals is 
currently specified in the Code, and stated that the Board of Adjustment does not have the same 
membership requirement.  He noted there may be a problem if someone appeals the decision of the Board 
of Adjustment to the Circuit Court. 
 
Motion carried 5-0. 
 



REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 

 
 - 14 - 

SECOND READING AND ADOPTION OF ORDINANCES 
None Scheduled. 
 
TOWN COMMISSION ITEMS 
None Scheduled. 
 
 
Meeting Adjourned at 8:35 p.m.      
 
 
 
Minutes prepared by Town Clerk Stevens, and adopted by the Town Commission on October 3, 2016. 
 
 
 
_______________________________                     
Mayor Pugh 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
     
_______________________________ 
Tracey L. Stevens, CMC, Town Clerk 


	Mayor Pugh led the Pledge of Allegiance.
	ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PROCLAMATIONS
	PUBLIC HEARINGS


